# Information Literacy Skills: Student Opinions and Perceptions at the University of Lugano

Research proposal

Sabrina Piccinini

MODULE BP 101

MA/MSc Information Studies University of Northumbria – Newcastle Università degli Studi – Parma

#### Table of contents

- 1. Introduction
- 2. Aims and Objectives
- 3. Key informants interviews: aims and objectives
- 4. Research context
- 5. Methodology

Research methods review and choice

Research strategies review and choice

Data collection techniques review and choice

Use of methods

Question design

Focus group and interview length and venue

Sample population and number of participants

Research issues, limitations and resources

Recruitment

Pilot

 $\triangleright$ 

## Data analysis

Data presentation

*Reliability and validity* 

**Timetable of activities** 

8. Outcomes

**Bibliography – list of works consulted** 

### 1. Introduction

This research work intends to explore students' understanding of the role and importance of information literacy skills (ILS), particularly in relation to students' academic learning. It also explores the role of the library in fostering ILS. It finally seeks to know students' feelings about a course on ILS.

The location of this investigation is the University of Lugano.

This study concerns itself primarily with undergraduate and postgraduate students, but it also seeks the opinion of academic researchers and librarians.

The purpose for carrying out a study on student perceptions of ILS is twofold: firstly, it is extremely important to have students' views on the subject, especially if a course on ILS is to be implemented<sup>1</sup>; secondly, such a preliminary study is an important vehicle for suggestions for future studies into related fields, such as students' information needs, the criteria to set up an ILS course, and the collaboration between library and departments.

Finally, this study hopes to contribute to existing literature on students' perceptions of information literacy by comparing and discussing the outcomes.

## 2. Aims and Objectives

The principal aim of this study is to present a clear and comprehensive picture of students' understanding of ILS and of their importance, especially in academic life. This study also aims to gain some insights into important related issues, namely the role of the library in developing ILS and the impact of a ILS course. The objectives are:

- To assess students' understanding of ILS
- To evaluate students' perception of the role and benefits of ILS in relation to their academic learning
- To investigate students' perspective on the role of the library in promoting ILS
- To examine students' feelings about the introduction of a ILS course

#### 3. Key informants interviews: aims and objectives

Key informants interviews aim to provide a comprehensive picture of the context which largely influence students' study habits and approach to ILS. The objectives are:

- To investigate informants' views on students' information retrieval behaviour
- To examine informants' perceptions of the importance of ILS in academic learning
- To evaluate informants' opinion on the role of the library in fostering ILS
- To assess the current liaison between library and departments in terms of ILS development

Informants will be recruited among librarians and researchers, for a total of four/six interviewees.

#### 1. Research context

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Elizabeth Hartmann, among the others, points out the importance of assessing how students understand and experience information use in order to improve information literacy course outcomes [see Hartmann].

This study stems from the researcher's own interest in investigating students' awareness of what information literacy skills are, and of their importance. This is a crucial starting point for any further investigation into students' own skills, and into the improvement of some library services [see Hartmann; Seamans; Morrison].

The research context is grounded primarily in the literature on:

- definition and discussion of information literacy
- student perceptions of information literacy
- the role of the library in developing information literacy skills

In addition to this, studies on collaboration between academic libraries and departments provide the context for key informant interviews.

The literature on information literacy (IL) is extremely wide. Therefore, it is difficult to pin down a single definition of IL. However, it has become customary to refer to the American Library Association's definition of a literate person as the starting point for any discussion [ALA, 1989]: the information literate person must "be able to recognize when information is needed and have the ability to locate, evaluate and use effectively the needed information". This four set of abilities provide the focus for Heather Morrison's exploratory study of student perceptions of ILS (1997), and they also represent the starting point for this research project.

However, this study also draws upon the issues discussed in the literature on ILS definition, which complicate the clear-cut definition provided by the ALA. For instance, it takes into account the difference between IL and ILS. It also acknowledges that being an information literate person "involves a deeper understanding of how and where to find information, the ability to judge whether that information is meaningful, and ultimately, how best that information can be incorporated to address the problem or issue at hand" [Humes].

Christina Doyle's set of attributes describing an IL person integrates and expands upon ALA's and ACRL's definitions. She sees an information literate person as someone who

- recognises the need for information;
- recognises that accurate and complete information is the basis for intelligent decision making;
- identifies potential sources of information;
- develops successful search strategies;
- accesses sources of information, including computer-based and other technologies;
- evaluates information;
- organises information for practical application;
- integrates new information into an existing body of knowledge, and;
- uses information in critical thinking and problem solving [Doyle, 1992]

Such a comprehensive definition conveniently lends itself for interview purposes. For this reason it will serve as a model in this study.

Indeed, many studies on student perceptions of IL confirm the use of ALA's definition, the Association of College and Research Libraries' indicators and Doyle's set of attributes as models to gather information from interviewees [see Morrison; Hartmann; Seamans; Ivey]. Literature on student perceptions of IL also investigates related issues, like students' study habits, academic requirements - both Seamans and Hartmann confirm that the latter influence students' needs -

and the value of IL in students' academic life. Some of these features are part of this study, and inform the questions asked to the students. Specifically, the data collection will include a warm-up session on students' information retrieval habits, in order to make students reflect upon their academic requirements. Then, a session on IL definition will follow, where students will be asked about Doyle's attributes (main session). Finally, there will be questions on the role of the library in developing ILS (main session) and on the impact of a course on ILS (closing session). Following examples in previous studies [see Morrison], the role of the library will be examined in relation to the skills outlined by Doyle. The impact of the course on ILS will be explored in relation to students' academic needs and requirements [see Hartmann; Seamans].

This study shares the common view, underpinning most studies in the field, that IL is an essential part of higher education, and that libraries, and particularly librarians, play a crucial role in fostering it. Studies on the role of the library in IL implementation strongly support the view that only librarians have the knowledge and the expertise to teach IL [see Owusu-Ansah, 2003 and 2004; Kuh].

However, it remains to be seen whether students share the same perspective. For this reason, although it is grounded in the literature, this study endeavours to remain unbiased towards the interviewees.

Finally, the context in which key informants' interviews are grounded also includes studies on IL definition. Doyle's list of attributes will be used with key informants as well, to see how they view the importance of ILS in academic learning. The exploration of collaboration between library and departments in terms of ILS development is done in a small session which investigates informants' views on current state of collaboration and on who should teach ILS [see Ivey].

#### 2. Methodology

#### Research methods reivew and choice

The research methods employed in science are either quantitave or qualitative. Broadly speaking, the quantitative approach is used when data can be measured and analysed numerically. Research methods were developed in the natural sciences with a view to studying and measuring phenomena. Quantitative methods are scientific, formal, precise and reliable.

Qualitative methods are applied when the research focus is on people and their behaviour. As Hancock puts it, "research which attempts to increase our understanding of why things are the way they are in our social world and why people act the ways they do is 'qualitative' research." [Hancock, 1]. Qualitative research is user-centred and inductive. Its theories and conclusions are mainly drawn from the data collection process itself, and not imposed from the researcher before starting the project. As a result, there is no right or wrong results in our analysis of the data, since we are assessing respondents' opinions.

The choice of one method, or of both, depends on the research purpose. Since this research project is concerned with students' ideas, views and opinions qualitative methods are more appropriate. Such data, in fact, require an interpretative and descriptive approach. Moreover, the number of students examined is relatively small, which again makes a qualitative approach more desirable.

Research strategies review and choice

Among the strategies used in qualitative approach there are ethnography, sociometry, action research, hermeneutics, and case study.

Ethnography is applied in large socio-cultural studies, where populations are examined and described in their own environment.

Sociometry is a "means of assessing group relational structures, such as hierarchies, friendship networks [...]" [Berg, 160]. In social sceintific research it is used to examine classroom interactions, and the affinity and disdain among group members.

Action research is employed to test the results of a new program, while hermeneutics "is primarily concerned with the *meaning* of a text or text-analogue" [Myers].

Case study is an "in-depth study of the cases under investigation" [Hamel, 1], it is descriptive and detailed. The object of the study is defined within the context of the "social actors" taking part in the study, who are at the heart of the study with their own experiences and the meanings they attach to them [Hamel, 33].

Since this project aims to gather detailed data concerning students' opinions at the university of Lugano a case study is the strategy that suits it best.

#### *Data collection techniques review and choice*

The methods employed in qualitative research are diverse. Due to time constraints and to the nature of the research (evaluation of opinions), diary and observation are neither suitable nor possible. Other methods are:

- questionnaire, a common method used in qualitative research as it is relatively easy and quick for respondents to complete, especially if questions are closed. Its main drawback is that the line of enquiry cannot be modified, since questions are fixed.
- interviews, which provide rich illuminative data about respondents and are flexible, since the line of enquiry can be modified according to the respondents' answers. It is also a cheap way to gain information. Interviews must be carefully recorded. The main drawback of interviews is that they are very time consuming.
- focus group interview, which is a group brainstorming on one or more areas of investigation, and questions are generally left open. The main drawback is that it is up to the interviewer's skills to have all participants take active part to the interview.

In order to gather information about students' views interviews and focus groups are the most suitable and convenient tools. Since the sample population is quite small, a questionnaire is not particularly useful in this project.

#### $\blacktriangleright$ Use of methods

As stated in literature, interviews and focus groups can be used together. In this project focus groups will be used as the primary method to gather information. In fact, focus groups are good to generate ideas, which is particularly important when the subjects of investigation are not well known to the group participants – hence, participants have never had the chance to think about the topics. Group views and idea-generating discussions are particularly appropriate to this project. Interviews will be carried out before focus groups, and primarily as a means to identify issues which then will be explored during focus groups.

Interviews and focus groups will be audio-taped, with participants' consent.

### ➢ Question design

Questions will be designed taking into account the project's objectives and the points and issues outlined in the published literature. Both individual interviews and focus groups will be semi-structured.

Although questions will be tailor-made for each group, they might be similar. In fact, since the aim is to explore research topics using different methods, individual interview and focus group questions focus on the same topics.

#### *Focus group and interview length and venue*

Ideally focus groups should last from one to one and a half hours, depending on the number of issues investigated and the students' response.

Interviews should last approximately one hour each, in order for all subjects to be investigated.

The venue for the interviews and focus groups should be a room in the library.

#### Sample population and number of participants

This projects targets both undergraduate and postgraduate students. The two groups will be treated separately since they attend different courses.

Individual interviews will be carried out with two/three undergraduates and two/three postgraduates. Interviews will be followed by two focus groups, one with undergraduates and one with postgraduates. The group size can vary from five to seven participants.

The number of participants has been devised following examples in the published literature.

Samples will be chosen randomly among the population. Ideally, students should be representative of the different departments. However, recruitment issues must be taken into account which may make representative sampling difficult.

#### Research issues, limitations and resources

Issues to be taken into consideration in planning and doing the project are:

- the place is entirely new to the researcher
- the time to carry out the project is relatively short (the researcher will be on the spot only for two months, which will be mainly devoted to perform internship duties)

This entails the following limitations:

- the investigation doesn't allow for multiple methods to be employed and for more than one researcher to be involved in the study
- since the university is not known to the researcher it might be difficult to carry out a thorough case study investigation (little time to get to know the institution, its people, organization and policy). Hence, it is possible that this project becomes an exploratory study.

Since this is not a study requested by the university the latter is not interested in investing resources in this project (not at this stage). Hence, resources are limited to the researcher's will and initiative. Therefore, all interviews and focus groups will be conducted by the researcher, as well as data transcription and analysis.

#### *Recruitment*

The issues just outlined may affect recruitment, in particular regarding the number of students which can be gathered. The fact that students may not be particularly interested in the topics or motivated in taking part in a research study adds to recruitment difficulty. This may be especially true considering that interviews and focus groups take up a considerable time.

However, the head of the library's project approval has been obtained, which should make it relatively manageable to receive help from the library in order to recruit students.

In addition to this, it is possible to receive help from some academic staff members, who have agreed to advertise the project during their lessons.

#### > Pilot

Due to foreseeable difficulty in gathering a large number of students who can, and are willing to, take part in the study, it is realistic to plan one pilot interview with one student, whereas it is not feasible to have a pilot focus group. However, one pilot interview should be enough to test whether questions are clear and understandable.

#### 3. Data analysis

Recorded data will be carefully transcribed. Data analysis will be carried out taking into account project objectives and features outlined in previous studies. Keeping this in mind, coding and analysis will actually proceed from the data themselves, and any following discussion will be grounded in the data.

A systematic indexing process will be applied to data, searching for topics/sentences/mentions related to the themes (objectives) of the project. For instance, broad themes may be "understanding on ILS", "importance of ILS", "role of the library in implementing ILS", and "importance of having a course on ILS". On a separate index sheet a list of all types of information found in the transcript should be prepared, with reference to transcript page and paragraph. Information will then be coded into categories describing what they are about (ie. "information retrieval"). Categories will then be compared and divided into main categories and, possibly, sub-categories [Hancock, 17-18], and will be accompanied by excerpts from interviews/focus groups.

Individual interviews to undergrads will be compared to one another, in order to set up categories. The same will be done with postgrad interviews. Similarly, undergrad and postgrad focus groups will be analysed separately, just like librarian and researcher interviews. Comparison among different groups and individuals will be part of the data discussion.

#### *Data presentation*

Dataflow diagrams will be prepared, including main themes, categories and excerpts (might be used as appendixes). Interview excerpts will be integrated in the discussion. Key informants data will be analysed and presented before students' data analysis.

## *Reliability, validity and generalization*

Although in this project it is not possible to use more than two different data collection tools, mainly because of time constraints and lack of familiarity with the place, focus groups will be carried out with two groups, in order to ensure some repetition and comparison of data. Moreover, individual interviews to students will produce crucial preliminary data which will be compared to focus groups results. Finally, individual interviews to key informants will add important contextual. In this study, therefore, triangulation is primarily a way "of gaining

different insights into the same situation" [Lacey and Luff, 23], and it has to be taken into account that comparing different data could result in different, possibly contradictory findings. If this is the case an explanation will be attempted.

In order to ensure reliability the approach to and the process of data analysis will be carefully described and justified within research context, so that it could be reproduced by other researchers. Moreover, evidence from other studies regarding the use of methods and the conclusions of the analysis will be provided [Lacey and Luff, 22]. As for validity, data analysis and presentation will consistently refer to data, for instance by providing quotations.

Since the population sample is relatively small, the results of the study cannot be generalized. However, results may be transferable, and other research studies in similar settings might confirm the conclusions of this project.

## 4. Timetable of Activities

Since this is a work in progress, and it involves people, it is must be taken into account that plans and timetable might change as the research work proceeds.

Activities	Sept	Oct	Nov	Dec	Jan	Feb	Mar
Literature review (methodology and research context)	~	~					
<ul> <li>Project design:</li> <li>Aims and objectives</li> <li>Choice of methodology</li> <li>Use of methods</li> <li>Timetable of activities</li> <li>Interview and focus group questions design</li> <li>Data analysis planning</li> <li>Desired outcomes</li> </ul>		<ul> <li>✓</li> </ul>	V				
<ul> <li>Data collection:</li> <li>pilot</li> <li>recruitment</li> <li>interviews (key informants; students)</li> <li>focus groups</li> <li>data transcription</li> </ul>			~	~			
Data analysis Data presentation Data discussion				✓	✓		
Project report					✓	✓	✓

# 5. Outcomes

This study aims to provide a preliminary view on students' approach to ILS, and on their feelings about the role of the library in implementing ILS. It endeavours to provide some guidelines/suggestions on:

• how to introduce ILS to students (knowing what students know and how they feel about ILS greatly helps teachers to handle the subject matter)

• how to handle collaboration issues between library and departments in terms of ILS implementation

It also hopes to produce suggestions for further research, especially in case the university decides to set up a course on ILS. For instance, if some results appear to be contradictory, further research may want to investigate issues which underlie such contradictions. Successful findings, as well as mistakes, limitations and reflections on possible improvements will be highlighted.

#### **Bibliography – list of works consulted**

- American Library Association (ALA). Best Practices and Assessment of Information Literacy Programs. [online]URL:<u>http://www.ala.org/ala/acrl/acrlissues/acrlinfolit/professactivity/iil/b</u> <u>estpractices/bestpracticesdescription.htm</u>
- American Library Association (ALA) (1989). Presidential Committee on Information Literacy, Final Report. [online] URL: <u>http://www.ala.org/acrl/nili/ilit1st.html</u>
- Association of College and Research Libraries (ACRL) (2000). Information Literacy Competency Standards for Higher Education. [online] URL: <u>http://www.ala.org/acrl/ilcomstan.html</u>
- Bell, Judith (1993). Doing your Research Project. Open University Press.
- Berg, Bruce L (1998). *Qualitative Research Methods for the Social Sciences*. 3<sup>rd</sup> Edition.
- Borgatti, Steve. "Introduction to Grounded Theory". [online]. URL: <u>http://www.slais.ubc.ca/resources/research\_methods/index.htm</u>
- Breivik, Patricia Senn, and Gee, E. Gordon (1989). *Information Literacy: Revolution in the Library*. New York: Americal Council of Education.
- Doyle, Christina (1992). Outcome measures for information literacy within the national education goals of 1990: final report of the National Forum on Information Literacy, Summary of findings. ERIC digest. ERIC document no ED 351033. [summary online]. ULR:http://www.ed.gov/databases/ERIC Digests/ed372756.html]
- ---- (1994). Information Literacy in an Information Society: A Concept for the Information Age. ERIC digest . ERIC document no ED372756. [summary online]. ULR:<u>http://www.ed.gov/databases/ERIC\_Digests/ed372756.html]</u>
- EU Commission: A Memorandum on Lifelong Learning (2000). [online]. URL: <u>http://www.eaea.org/doc/MemoEN.PDF</u>
- Hamel, Jacques (1993). Case Study Methods. London, Thousand Oaks and New Delhi: Sage.
- Hancock, Beverley (1998). An Introduction to Qualitative Research. [online] URL:<u>http://www.nova.edu/ssss/QR/text.html</u>
- Hart, Chris (1998). Doing A Literature Review. London, Thousand Oaks and New Delhi: Sage.

- Hartmann, Elizabeth (2001). Understandings of Information Literacy: The Perceptions of First-Year Undergraduate Students at the University of Ballarat. *Australian & Academic Research Libraries*. 31:2, June.
  [online] URL: <a href="http://alia.org.au/publishing/aarl/32.2/full.text/hartmann.html">http://alia.org.au/publishing/aarl/32.2/full.text/hartmann.html</a>
- Humes, Barbara. Understanding Information Literacy. [online]. URL: <u>http://www.libraryinstruction.com/</u>

Husen, Torsten (1974). The Learning Society. London: Methuen & Co.

- Ivey, Ruth (2002). Information Literacy: How do Librarians and Academics Work in Partnership to Deliver Effective Learning Programs?. *Australian Academic & Research Libraries*. 34:2, June. [online]. URL: <u>http://alia.org.au/publishing/aarl/34.2/full.text/ivey.html</u>
- Jiao, Qun G and Onwuegbuzie, Anthony (2001). Library Anxiety and Characteristic Strength and Weaknesses of Graduate Study Habits. *Library Review*. 50:2, 73-80.
- Johnston, B. and Webber, S. (2003). Information Literacy in Higher Education: a Review and Case Study. *Studies in Higher Education*. 28:3, 335-352.
- Kasowitz-Scheer, Abby, and Pasqualoni, Michael. Information Literacy Instruction in Higher Education. [online]. URL: <u>http://www.libraryinstruction.com/</u>
- Knapper, Christopher K, and Cropley, Arthur J (1991). *Lifelong Learning and Higher Education*. 2<sup>nd</sup> edition.
- Kuh, G. D. and Gonyea, R. M. (2003). The Role of Academic Library in Promoting Student Engagement in Learning. ACRL Eleventh National Conference. Charlotte, North Carolina, USA. [online]. URL:http://www.ala.org/Content/NavigationMenu/ACRL/Events\_and\_Conferences/kuh.pdf
- Kvale, Steinar (1996). Interviews: an Introduction to Qualitative Research Interviewing. London, Thousand Oaks and New Delhi: Sage.
- La Guardia, C, Blake, M, Frawell, L, Kent, C, and Tallent, E (1996). *Teaching the New Library. A how-to-do-it Manual for Planning and Designing Instructional Programs.* New York: Neal-Schuman.
- Lacey, Anne, and Luff, Donna (2001). Qualitative Data Analysis. [online]. URL:<u>http://www.nova.edu/ssss/QR/text.html</u>
- Langford, Linda (1998). Information Literacy: Seeking Clarification. *From Now On*. [online]. URL: <u>http://www.fno.org/sept98/clarify.html</u>

Laurillard, D (1993). Rethinking University Teaching. 2<sup>nd</sup> edition.

Mathers, Nigel, Fox, Nick, and Hunn, Amanda (1998). Using Interviews in a Research Project. [online] URL:http://www.nova.edu/ssss/QR/text.html

McGarry, Kevin John (1993). The Changing Context of Information. 2<sup>nd</sup> edition.

- Morgan, David L. Focus Groups as Qualitative Research. 2<sup>nd</sup> edition.
- Morrison, Heather (1997). Information Literacy Skills: an Exploratory Focus Group Study of Student Perceptions. *Research Strategies*. 15:1, 4-17. [online] URL: <u>http://www.aib.it/aib/commiss/cnur/tracrl.htm3</u>
- Myers, Michel D. ed. (1998). Qualitative research in information systems. [online]. URL <u>http://www.auckland.ac.nz/msis/isworld/</u>
- The National Committee of Enquiry into Higher Education. Summary Report (1997). [online]. URL: <u>http://www.leeds.ac.uk/educol/ncihe/nav.htm</u>
- O' Mahony, Mary, for the EUA (2001). Lifelong learning and higher education: Consultation on the EC Draft Memorandum on Lifelong Learning . [online]. URL: <u>http://www.unige.ch/eua/En/Publications/LLLdraft/</u>
- Owusu-Ansah, Edward K. (2003). Information Literacy and the Academic Library: A Critical Look at a Concept and the Controversies Surrounding It. *The Journal of Academic Librarianship*. 29:4, 219-230.
- ----- (2004). Information Literacy and Higher Education: Placing the Academic Library in the Center of a Comprehensive Solution. *The Journal of Academic Librarianship.* 30:1, 3–16.
- Plotnick, Eric (1999). Information literacy. ERIC Digest. ERIC document no ED427777. [online] URL: <u>http://www.ericfacility.net/databases/ERIC\_Digests/ed427777.html</u>
- Pope, Catherine, and Mays Nicholas eds (1999). *Qualitative research in Health Care*, 2<sup>nd</sup> edition. Chapter 8 "Analysing Qualitative Data" available online at <u>http://www.slais.ubc.ca/resources/research\_methods/index.htm</u>
- Pors, Niels Ole (2001). Measuring Students' Performance and Perceptions: Empirical Studies in Different Dimensions of Quality Assurance at a Library School. *New Library World*. 102:1170-1171, 429-435.
- PRA (2001). Focus Groups. [online] URL: <u>http://www.pra.ca/resources/focusgroup.pdf</u>
- Rader, Hannelore B (1995). Information Literacy and the Undergraduate Curriculum. *Library Trends*. 44:2, 270-279.
- Seamans, Nancy H (2002). Students' Perceptions of Information Literacy: Insights for Librarians. *Reference Services Review*. 30:2, 112-123.

- Society of College, National and University Libraries (SCONUL) (1999). Information skills in higher education: a SCONUL Position Paper. London. [online]. URL:<u>http://www.sconul.ac.uk/pubs\_stats/pubs/99104Rev1.doc</u>
- Stake, Robert E (2003). Case Studies. In Denzin, Norman E, and Lincoln, Yvonna S. eds. *Strategies of Qualitative Inquiry*. 2<sup>nd</sup> edition.
- Tammaro, Anna Maria. "Apprendere ad Apprendere" (1999). *Biblioteche Oggi.* 17:6, Dicembre, 46-52.
- Thomas, Nancy Pickering (1999). *Information Literacy and Information Skills Instruction*. Libraries Unlimited UK.
- Valentine, B.(1993). Undergraduate Research Behaviour: Using Focus Groups to Generate Theory. *Research in Higher Education*. 40:2, 185-200.
- Virkus, S. (2003) "Information literacy in Europe: a literature review." *Information Research*. 8:4, paper no. 159. [online] URL: <u>http://informationr.net/ir/8-4/paper159.html</u>
- Webber, Sheila, and Johnston, Bill (2000). Conceptions of Information Literacy: New Perspectives and Implications. *Journal of Information Science*. 26:6, 381-397.

----- The Information Literacy Place. [online]. URL: <u>http://dis.shef.ac.uk/literacy/default.htm</u>

Williams, Helene and Zald, Anne (1997). Redefining Roles: Librarians as Partners in Information Literacy Education. *Information Research*. 3:1. [online] URL: <u>http://informationr.net/ir/3-1/paper24.html</u>

Wurman, Richard Saul (1989). L'Ansia da Informazione. Milano: Leonardo editore.